
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA     CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS    PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

January 21, 2020  5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember John Riggs

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations:

A) Presentation by Richard Deal with Lanier, Deal and Proctor on how the City
financially ended Fiscal Year 2019.

B) Presentation by Fair Count regarding the 2020 Census.

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda
A) Approval of Minutes

a) 01-07-2020 Council Minutes

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 19-12-
01: James Hendry requests a zoning map amendment of 0.692 acres of property located
at 8 North Mulberry Street from R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential) to
the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district in order to redevelop an existing warehouse
building as a commercial building with multiple units of business (Tax Parcel S28
000091 000).

7. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol license
Sec. 6-5

A) 301 Onestop
Nilay Bhatt
17402 N Hwy 301
Statesboro, Ga 30458

8. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2020-02: A Resolution authorizing the
closing of the Bank account for the 2016 Community Development Block Grant

9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Sixth Amendment to the lease agreement with
AT&T regarding the City water tower access lease located at 201 Lanier Drive.

10. Consideration of a Motion to Award a contract to Suez Inc. in the amount of $37,470.00
for emergency repairs to Well #10 with funds from Water Sewer system revenues.



11. Consideration of a Motion to Authorize payment to Continental Road LLC in the amount
of $39,395.00 to upgrade 8” water main to 12” water main.

12. Consideration of a Motion to Award a Professional Services Contract to Hussey, Gay,
Bell Inc. in an amount not to exceed $139,340.00 for modifications to Blowers and
Influent Pumps at the Waste Water Treatment Plant with funds approved as part of the
2020 CIP Budget item #WWD 168 and #WWD 169.

13. Other Business from City Council

14. City Managers Comments

15. Public Comments (General)

16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b)

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn



COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P. 0. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

To: Mr. Charles Penny, City Manager 

From: Cindy S. West, Finance Director mw 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Date: January 14, 2020 

RE: End of Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Presentation 

Background: The City of Statesboro is required to have an independent 

financial audit at the end of each Fiscal Year. Richard Deal, with Lanier, Deal 

and Proctor, will give an update on how the City financially ended Fiscal Year 

2019. 

Budget Impact: N/ A 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
JANUARY 07, 2020 

1 

Regular Meeting                50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers           9:00 AM 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE
Dr. Rev. Francys Johnson gave the Invocation
Mayor Jonathan McCollar led Pledge of Allegiance.

ATTENDENCE
Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present 
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present 
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present 
Venus Mack Councilmember Present 
John Riggs Councilmember Present 
Shari Barr Councilmember Present 

Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City Attorney Cain Smith 
and City Clerk Leah Harden. 

3. Oath of Office Administered by Bulloch County Probate Court Judge Lorna Deloach:
a) District 2 Councilmember Paulette Chavers
b) District 3 Councilmember Venus Mack
c) District 5 Councilmember Shari Barr

Bulloch County Probate Judge Lorna Deloach administered the Oath of Office individually to Councilmember Paulette 
Chavers, Councilmember Venus Mack and Councilmember Shari Barr. 

4. Consideration of a motion to appoint a Mayor Pro Tem for the next two years, per the Statesboro Municipal
Code, Section 2-4 of the City Charter.

Councilmember Shari Barr made a motion to appoint Paulette Chavers, Councilmember for District 2 as Mayor Pro 
Tem for the next two years. 

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

  AYES: 

 ABSENT 

Approved 4-0 /Councilmember Paulette Chavers abstained from voting 

Councilmember  Venus Mack

Councilmember  Shari Barr

Boyum, Mack, Riggs, Barr 



2 

5. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda
A) Approval of Minutes

a) 12-17-2019 Council Minutes

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

  AYES: 

 ABSENT 

7. Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 201-14: An Ordinance amending
Chapter 6 adding a definition of “Local Brewery” and the requirements and privileges conferred under this
classification.

A motion was made to approve the second reading of Ordinance 2019-14 amending Chapter 6 adding a definition of 
“Local Brewery” and the requirements and privileges conferred under this classification. 

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

  AYES: 

 ABSENT 

8. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2020-01: A Resolution authorizing the Housing Authority
of Valdosta, Georgia to issue Bonds to Finance facilities located in the City of Statesboro, Georgia.

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2020-01 authorizing the Housing Authority of Valdosta, Georgia to issue 
bonds to finance facilities located in the City of Statesboro, Georgia.   

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

  AYES: 

 ABSENT 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve the submittal of an Economic Development Administration Grant, for
purposes of the Phase III City Campus Classrooms and Business Expansion.

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack

Councilmember  John Riggs

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers

Councilmember Phil Boyum

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember  Venus Mack

Councilmember  Shari Barr

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 



3 

A motion was made to approve the submittal of an Economic Development Administration Grant. 

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

AYES: 

 ABSENT 

10. Other Business from City Council
Councilmember Shari Barr commended Councilmember Phil Boyum on his recent appointment with GMA.

11. City Managers Comments
City Manager Charles Penny stated our transfer station has been backed up due to our contractor Wayne County landfill
having mechanical issues. Over the weekend we asked Bulloch County to close their convenience centers so they
wouldn’t bring anymore additional material to the transfer station. We are working with our contractor to get this issue
resolved so hopefully we can have the transfer station cleaned out by later this week.
Mr. Penny also stated we will have a Work Session on January 21st at 4:00 pm, the agenda will include Transit, a
presentation by Woods Group on parks and recreation, a quarterly financial report and our year end audit report

12. Public Comments (General)
Mayor Jonathan McCollar congratulated Councilmember Phil Boyum for being appointed to the Georgia Municipal
Association Training Board to represent district 12.

Keyshawn Houser came forward to congratulate the new Councilmembers. 

13. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn

A motion was made to adjourn the meeting.  

  RESULT: 

  MOVER: 

  SECONDER: 

  AYES: 

 ABSENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:21 am. 

Approved (Unanimous)

Councilmember  Paulette Chavers

Councilmember  Phil Boyum

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember

Councilmember

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles W. Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691

www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles W. Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

Date: January 9, 2020 

RE: January 21, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment 

requested by application RZ 19-12-01 with conditions.  

Background: James Hendry requests a zoning map amendment of 0.692 acres 

of property located at 8 North Mulberry Street from R-3 (Medium Density Multiple 

Family Residential) to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district in order to 

redevelop an existing warehouse building as a commercial building with 

multiple units of business (Tax Parcel S28 000091 000).  

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

Attachments: Development Services Report RZ 19-12-01 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of 
Subject Site), Exhibit D (Proposed Site Plan) 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348 (912) 764-0630

Statesboro, Georgia 30458 (912) 764-0664 (Fax)

RZ 19-12-01 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

8 NORTH MULBERRY STREET 

LOCATION: 8 North Mulberry Street 

REQUEST: 

Zoning map amendment from R-3 

(Medium Density Multiple Family 

Residential) to CR (Commercial 

Retail). 

APPLICANT: James Hendry 

OWNER(S): Seabean LLC 

ACRES: 0.692 +/- acres 

PARCEL TAX 

MAP #: 
S28 000091 000 

COUNCIL 

DISTRICT:  
District 1 (Boyum) 

PROPOSAL & BACKGROUND: 

The applicant requests a zoning map amendment from the R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential) 
zoning district to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district in order to allow for the development and use of a 
commercial building with multiple units of business, which is not an allowed use under the property’s existing 
zoning designation.  

The parcel is currently being developed as a construction company’s office per issued building permits #02012 
and #02009. The subject site’s building renovations will potentially allow for multiple units of business, therefore 
the applicant has a requested a zoning map amendment in order to allow a more intensive land use on the 
subject property. In November 2015, the City previously issued a building permit, PD #01400, which authorized 
the construction of a metal building with a one bedroom apartment. In September 2014, the City issued a 
demolition permit, DPD #17, which authorized the demolition of a dilapidated single family residence. See 
Exhibit C – Photos of Subject Site. 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: LI (Light Industrial) Bulloch Telephone Data/Telecommunications Building, Commercial Office 
Building with Large Parking Lot, a Warehouse Building, and City of Statesboro 
Public Utilities Building. 

SOUTH: R-3 (Medium Density Multiple
Family Residential)

Single Family Residences. 

WEST: LI (Light Industrial) JTL Cabinets Commercial Office/Warehouse Building and Southeast Pecan 
Company Warehouse Buildings. 

EAST: CR (Commercial Retail) Light Industrial and Commercial Building Uses. 

The subject property is located within the R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential) district, has frontage along North 
Mulberry Street, and lies adjacent to a variety of uses and previously developed lots. Surrounding parcels include 
commercial, office, light industrial, and single family residential uses. (See Exhibit A – Location Map, Exhibit B — Future 
Development Map, & Exhibit C —Photos of Subject Site). 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro 2019 - 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the 

subject site in the following character area: 

“Urban Core/Downtown District” 

Narrative: 

The Statesboro Downtown character area includes the central historic portion of 

Statesboro in the intersecting area of Main Street. The area is intended to be redeveloped 

to create a central business district including many of the characteristics of a traditional 

downtown by promoting building, site and street-scape design features that encourage 

street-level pedestrian activity. The area should support a wide mixture of office and retail 

uses within structures with the potential for residential uses to be located on upper floors. 

Also, it can include office-related government and institutional uses. Urban building form 

should be promoted except for properties that contain the City’s few remaining historic 

homes.  

Suggested 

Development 

and 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and

setbacks.

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial and/or community

facilities at small enough scale and proximity to encourage walking between

destinations.

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. Uses should typically transition

across the rear of properties instead of across the street to soften the transition

and maintain appropriate streetscapes.

 Economic development strategies should continue to nurture thriving commercial

activity.

 Redevelop warehouses for major employer/tenant to build critical mass downtown.

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Future Development Map & Land Use Plan, page 80, 84-85.

The subject area is also adjacent to the “Commercial Redevelopment Area #1” character area. 

“Commercial Redevelopment Area #1” 

Vision: 

The Commercial Redevelopment #1 character area 
is intended for a varied scale of commercial, retail and 
office uses. At the intersection of major thoroughfares, 
development of large-scale commercial uses to serve 
surrounding areas of the City and unincorporated 
portions of Bulloch County is appropriate. In other 
areas, smaller scale development containing more 
local community services is desired. This character 
area incorporates on-site access management 
features, and uniform building, site, landscaping and 
sign standards in order to improve function and 
aesthetics. 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies: 

 Provide incentives for new businesses to locate

here.

 Ensure significant perimeter buffering where

adjacent to residential and open space corridor

areas.

 Infill development on vacant sites closer in to the

center of the community. These sites, with

existing infrastructure in place, are used for new

development, while matching the character of the

surrounding neighborhood in lieu of more

development on greenfield sites.

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Future, page 86-87.

In addition, the Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Plan and “Community Goals” has the following 
supporting policies:  

 “Improve the appearance of the City to serve as an enticement for additional business investment.”

 “Promote the formation of local private business groups that can focus their energy on marketing
Statesboro as an attractive business location.”

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda, page 18. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

ANALYSIS 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety. No significant impact is 
expected on community facilities or services as a result of this request. 

 ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain any wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is 
no expected environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and 
discussed during standard permitting and review procedure. 

ZONING CONSIDERATIONS: 
Whether or not to grant a zoning map amendment from the R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family 
Residential) zoning district to the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district.   

The request should be considered in light of: 

 the standards for determination of zoning map amendments given in Article XX, Section 2007 of the
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance

 the vision and community policies articulated within the Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Plan

 the 2035 Bulloch County/City of Statesboro Long Range Transportation Plan

 the potential for the property to develop and be utilized in conformance with the requirements of
the proposed CR (Commercial Retail) district as set forth in the Statesboro
Zoning Ordinance.

Current Zoning 

The R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential) 
district allows for any use specifically permitted in the 
R-15 district as well as single-family detached, two-
family twin, and two-family duplex dwellings. However,
a commercial building is not listed as a permissible
use allowed by right in the R-3 district. Those uses are
permitted in the CR district.

Requested Zoning 

The CR (Commercial Retail) district allows for 
commercial buildings with professional offices and 
personal service facilities, which are the applicant’s 
intended uses for the subject property. The applicant 
intends to use the building primarily as the office for a 
construction company with additional commercial 
space proposed to be leased as a barbershop and 
medical message practice.  

STANDARDS: ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

Article XX, Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and 
City Council to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment, in “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are as follows: 

(1) Existing uses and zoning or (of) property nearby

a. Existing uses and zoning of property nearby varies. The surrounding lots are zoned LI
(Light Industrial), CR (Commercial Retail), and R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family
Residential), and are occupied by a single family dwellings, Bulloch Telephone
telecommunications building, warehouse buildings, commercial offices, light industrial uses
and a City of Statesboro Public Utilities Department building.

(2) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.

a. The proposed use is not expected to have an adverse effect on property values in the area
given the surrounding uses. Please note that staff has not consulted a professional appraiser
regarding the impact of the requested zoning map amendment on the property value.



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval of the zoning map amendment requested by application RZ 19-12-01 with 
conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held on January 7, 2020 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 5-0 
to recommend approval of the zoning map amendment requested by application RZ 19-12-01 with the 
following staff condition(s): 

(a) Subject site shall adhere to all applicable regulations listed within the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance,
Article XXX: Downtown District Design Standards and Article XXIII: Buffer Requirements.

(b) Approval of this zoning map amendment does not grant site and/or building plan approval as
submitted. Project(s) will be required to meet all City Ordinances and applicable building codes.

(3) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the
health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public.

a. This request will bring investment into an area where infill redevelopment is needed.

(4) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.

a. The subject site is currently zoned R-3 (Medium Density Multiple Family Residential). Per
Article VI, Section 600, this parcel can be occupied by any use specifically permitted in the
R-15 district, as well as single-family detached, two-family twins, and two-family duplex
dwellings. Under the proposed CR zoning, the applicant would be able to open a commercial
building with multiple units of business, which is the intended use of the 0.692 +/- acre
development site. This request gives the applicant an opportunity to serve members of the
community and neighborhood by contributing an infill, commercial redevelopment.

(5) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.

a. There is no indication that the subject property is not suitable for the requesting zoning.

(6) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.

a. Currently, the parcel is occupied by a commercial building undergoing renovations and a
building addition. There have been no major recent commercial developments surrounding
the property. Historically, this property was occupied by a metal warehouse building with a
one bedroom apartment.

(7) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: population density in the area;
community facilities; living conditions in the area; traffic patterns and congestion;
environmental aspects; existing and future land use patterns; property values in adjacent
areas; and

a. Impacts on local traffic should be considered.

b. Positive impact on the existing and future land use patterns as the proposed use is compatible
with the surrounding area as well as consistent with the 2019 – 2029 Future Development
Map and the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan.

(8) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and development plans for the
community.

a. The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan supports appropriate infill within established areas of
the City; however, the plan also supports that the placement and scale of infill complement
surrounding land uses and zoning districts and requires it to occur in a manner that protects
established residential areas.



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

EXHIBIT B: CITY OF STATESBORO’S 2019 – 2029 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: View of the subject property and RZ 19-12-01, looking east from North Mulberry Street. 

Picture 2: Additional views of the subject property and RZ 19-12-01, looking east from North Mulberry Street. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

Picture 3: A view of the adjacent property to the north of the subject site, Bulloch Telephone Telecomm. Building. 

Picture 4: A view of the adjacent property to the south of the subject site, currently single family residences. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

Picture 5: Looking east from the subject site, currently light industrial and commercial uses. 

Picture 6: Looking southeast from the subject site, currently light industrial and commercial uses. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

Picture 7: Looking northeast from the subject site, currently a City of Statesboro Public Utilities Building. 

Picture 8: View of the surrounding properties to the northwest of the subject site, currently light commercial and 
industrial uses. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

Picture 9: View of the subject site prior to the renovations permitted under building permit #02012 and #02009, 
previously a metal warehouse building with a one bedroom apartment. 

Picture 10: View of the subject site prior to the single family home demolition permitted under demolition permit #17. 
This single family residence was permitted for demolition on September 18, 2014. 



Development Services Report 

Case RZ 19-12-01 

EXHIBIT D: Proposed Site Plan (dated January 11, 2019) 

























RESOLUTION #2020-02:  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CLOSING OF  
THE BANK ACCOUNT FOR THE 2016 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK 

GRANT 

WHEREAS, the City Council accepted the award of the 2016 Community 
Development Block Grant; and 

WHEREAS, the project funded by the grant has been completed and the grant has 
been closed out;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia that the City Manager and Director of Finance are hereby 
authorized and directed to close the City of Statesboro’s  2016 Community Development 
Block Grant bank account. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any Resolution or parts of a Resolution in 
conflict herewith are hereby rescinded. 

Adopted this 21st day of January 2020 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

__________________________________________ 
By:  Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

__________________________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



CITY OF STATESBORO
COUNCIL
Phil Boyum, District 1
Paulette Chavers, District 2
Venus Mack, District 3
John Riggs, District 4
Shari Barr, District 5

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor
Charles W. Penny, City Manager

Leah Harden, City Clerk
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691  www.statesboroga.gov

To: Charles W. Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II

Date: January 9, 2020

RE: January 21, 2019 City Council Agenda Items

Policy Issue: Consideration of a Sixth Amendment to the lease agreement with AT&T 
regarding City water tower access lease located at 201 Lanier Drive.

Recommendation: Approval of lease.

Background: AT&T has leased tower space on this site since 2002. Our third party 
contractor for Local Government Services, LLC, negotiated and approved the proposed 
lease amendment, which allows a routine equipment swap for new equipment at this 
location. Due to the scope of the work proposed, this proposed project is a routine 
equipment swap and there will not be an opportunity to increase the rent under the 
proposed Sixth Amendment to the AT&T lease.

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District: John Riggs (District 3)

Attachments: Proposed executed Lease Amendment and Copy.

http://www.statesboroga.gov


12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

Market: Georgia 

Cell Site Number: 410-285 

Cell Site Name: Paulson Stadium  

Fixed Asset Number: 10031174

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT (“Sixth Amendment”), dated 

as of the latter of the signature dates below, is by and between the Mayor and city Council of 

Statesboro, a Georgia municipality, having a mailing address of 50 E. Main Street, Statesboro, 

GA 30458 (“Lessor”) and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company, having a mailing address of 1025 Lenox Park Blvd. NE, 3rd Floor, Atlanta, GA 30319 

(“Lessee”). 

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee entered into a Lease Agreement dated June 24, 2002, as 

amended by the First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated November 1, 2005, as further 

amended by Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated October 31, 2012, as further 

amended by Third Amendment to Lease Agreement dated May 6, 2014, as further amended by 

the Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement dated July 7, 2016, as further amended by the Fifth 

Amendment to Lease Agreement dated May 8, 2018, whereby Lessor leased to Lessee certain 

Premises, therein described, that are a portion of the Property located at 201 Lanier Drive, 

Statesboro, GA 30458 ("Agreement"); and  

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee desire to reflect that Lessee shall be authorized to add, 

remove, modify, or replace certain equipment on the Premises as listed below and set forth in 

Exhibit A-3, attached hereto and incorporated by reference; and 

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee desire to amend the Agreement to modify the notice 

section thereof; and  

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee, in their mutual interest, wish to amend the Agreement as set 

forth below accordingly. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Lessor and Lessee 

agree as follows: 

1. Equipment. Exhibit A-3 shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with revised Exhibit A-3

attached hereto and incorporated into the Agreement as if fully set out therein.

2. Other Terms and Conditions Remain. In the event of any inconsistencies between the

Agreement and this Sixth Amendment, the terms of this Sixth Amendment shall control.  Except

as expressly set forth in this Sixth Amendment, the Agreement otherwise is unmodified and

remains in full force and effect.  Each reference in the Agreement to itself shall be deemed also

to refer to this Sixth Amendment.



12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

3. Notices.  Section 18 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the

following:

NOTICES.  All notices, requests, demands and communications hereunder will be given by first 

class certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or by a nationally recognized 

overnight courier, postage prepaid, to be effective when properly sent and received, refused or 

returned undelivered.  Notices will be addressed to the parties as follows.   

If to Lessee:   New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC 

By: AT&T Mobility Corporation,  

Attn: Network Real Estate Administration  

Re: Cell Site #: 410-285, Cell Site Name: Paulson Stadium (Georgia), 

FA No: 10031174 

1025 Lenox Park Blvd. NE 

3rd Floor 

Atlanta, GA 30319 

With the required copy of legal notice sent to Lessee at the address above, a copy to the Legal 

Department:  New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC  

Attn: Legal Department,  

Re: Cell Site #: 410-285, Cell Site Name: Paulson Stadium (Georgia), 

FA No: 10031174  

208 S. Akard Street 

Dallas, TX  75202-4206 

A copy sent to the Legal Department is an administrative step which alone does not constitute 

legal notice.  

If to Lessor: Mayor and City Council of Statesboro 

         Attn: Local Government Services 

         127 Laurel Wood Lane 

         Dahlonega, GA 30533 

Either party hereto may change the place for the giving of notice to it by thirty (30) days prior 

written notice to the other as provided herein. 

4. Capitalized Terms.  All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the same

meanings as defined in the Agreement.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 



12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused their properly authorized 

representatives to execute and seal this Sixth Amendment on the dates set forth below. 

“LESSOR” 

Signed, sealed and delivered The Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, 

in the presence of: a Georgia municipality 

__________________________  By: _______________________ 

Name:  ____________________ Name:  ____________________ 

Unofficial Witness Title:   _ 

Date:   Date:   _ 

_______________________________ 

Name: _________________________ 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: __________ 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 

“LESSEE” 

Signed, sealed and delivered New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, 

in the presence of: a Delaware limited liability company 

_______________________________ By: AT&T Mobility Corporation 

Its: Manager 

By: __________________________ 

Name: ____________________ Name: Leonard W. Lindros 

Unofficial Witness Title: Area Manager of Network Engineering 

Date: _________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Name: _________________________ 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: __________ 

[NOTARIAL SEAL] 



12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

EXHIBIT A-3 

(Page 1 of 3) 

Lessee’s Equipment to be located at the 132’ RAD. 

(5) Kathrein 80010865 panel antennas

(3) Commscope NNH4-65B-R6 panel antennas

(2) Kathrein 742264 panel antennas

(1) CCI MBA6-11F-BU-H3 panel antenna

(2) Ericsson RRUS-11 radios

(2) Ericsson RRUS-12 radios

(2) Ericsson RRUS-A2 modules

(3) Ericsson RRUS-32 radios

(3) Ericsson B14 4478 radios

(2) Ericsson 4415 B25 radios

(2) Ericsson 4478 B5 radios

(2) Ericsson 4449 B5/B12 radios

(2) Ericsson 8843 B2/B66A radios

(6) Andrew ETD819G-12UB TMAs

(2) Andrew E15Z01P06 TMAs

(3) Raycap DC6-48-60-18-8F surge suppressors

(6) Raycap DC2-48-60-0-9E surge suppressors

(1) Raycap DC9-48-60-24-8C-EV surge suppressors

(3) Commscope CBC1923Q-43 quadplexers

(12) 1 5/8” coax

(7) 7/8” power cables

(3) 3/8” fiber cables

(6) 3/8” RET cables



12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

EXHIBIT A-3 

(Page 2 of 3) 

Engineering Stamped Drawings added when complete. 

See attached exhibit comprised of 2 pages, dated 11-18-2019, prepared by Foresite Group. 



12-2010 
2010 Form Amendment 

EXHIBIT A-3 

(Page 3 of 3) 

Engineering Stamped Drawings added when complete. 

See attached exhibit comprised of 2 pages, dated 11-18-2019, prepared by Foresite Group. 

Notes: 

1. THIS EXHIBIT MAY BE REPLACED BY A LAND SURVEY AND/OR CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS OF THE PREMISES ONCE

RECEIVED BY LESSEE.
2. ANY SETBACK OF THE PREMISES FROM THE PROPERTY’S BOUNDARIES SHALL BE THE DISTANCE REQUIRED BY THE

APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES.

3. WIDTH OF ACCESS ROAD SHALL BE THE WIDTH REQUIRED BY THE APPLICABLE GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES,
INCLUDING POLICE AND FIRE DEPARTMENTS.

4. THE TYPE, NUMBER AND MOUNTING POSITIONS AND LOCATIONS OF ANTENNAS AND TRANSMISSION LINES ARE

ILLUSTRATIVE ONLY. ACTUAL TYPES, NUMBERS AND MOUNTING POSITIONS MAY VARY FROM WHAT IS SHOWN 
ABOVE.



COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

CITY OF bTATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P. 0. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Mr. Jason Boyles/ Asst. City Manager 
Mr. Charles Penny/ City Manager 

From: Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Utilities 

Date: 1-8-2020 

RE: Emergency Pump Replacement Well #10 

Policy Issue: City Manager Approval 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Recommendation: Approval by City Manager to award a contract to Suez Inc. 
in the amount of $37,470.00 for emergency repairs to Well #10 with funds from 
Water Sewer system revenues. 

Background: The City operates six deep wells that supply the potable water 
needs of its residential and commercial customers. Two of our highest producing 
wells are units #9 and #10, which are located in the Gateway Industrial park 
near Briggs & Stratton. As part of our routine monitoring it was noticed that well 
#10 was consuming more power than normal and pumping less water. Our 
pump specialist was called in to investigate and determined that the pump was 
going bad and would need to be replaced. Because this well is of high priority 
and needs to be brought back to full pumping capacity as soon as possible, we 
have solicited three written quotes for the needed repairs. The low bid came 
from Suez Inc. in the amount of $37,470.00, second was from Beasley Well Drilling 
$47,860.00 and third was from Bulloch Well Drilling $63,000.00 

Budget Impact: Funding will come from Operating Budget. 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: See attached quotes from Suez, Bulloch Well, and Beasley Well 
Drilling 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 









COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 

Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 

John C. Riggs 

Shari Barr 

CITY OF bTATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET · P.O. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Mr. Jason Boyles/ Asst. City Manager 
Mr. Charles Penny / City Manager 

From: Steve Hotchkiss 
Director of Public Utilities 

Date: 1-7-2020 

RE: Reimbursement for Water Main Extension. 

Policy Issue: Council Approval 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to authorize payment to 
Continental Road LLC in the amount of $39,395.00 to upgrade 8" water main to 
12" water main. 

Background: In early 2019 the Continental Road LLC development group started 

development of the old Saw Mill Site located on the By-Pass just west of the new 
J.C. Lewis Ford dealership. As part of that development, the site was annexed
into the City and plans were made to extend City utilities onto the property. As
part of the development process, utility plans were submitted for review and
approval by City staff. The City has an existing 12" water main located across
the By-Pass from the development and their engineers proposed tapping that

main and extending an 8" main to serve the site. When the plans were reviewed
and marked up we required that the line be extended as a 12" to the next
adjoining property line to maximize capacity for future developments.

The cost to upgrade the water main from 8" to 12" is $39,395.00 and the 

developer has requested that the City pay the additional cost. Public Utilities 
staff and our consultants at Hussy Gay Bell have reviewed these charges and 
find them fair and applicable. 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 



COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

GITY OF bTATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET · P.O. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

In the past we have paid the additional cost to upgrade utility lines if it was in the 

City's best interest. This is an area that will continue to develop and we feel that 

having the higher capacity main is the best option and will benefit the City. 

Budget Impact: Proposed funding from Water Sewer System revenues. 

Council Person and District: Chavers, District #2

Attachments: Maxwell- Reddick letter and spreadsheet. 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 







COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 

John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

GITY OF ::::iTATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Mr. Jason Boyles/ Asst. City Manager 

Mr. Charles Penny / City Manager 

From: Steve Hotchkiss 

Director of Public Utilities 

Date: 1-8-2020 

RE: Professional Services Contract Hussey, Gay, Bell 

Policy Issue: Council Approval 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Recommendation: Consideration of a motion to award a Professional Services 
Contract to Hussey, Gay, Bell Inc. in an amount not to exceed $139,340.00 for 
modifications to Blowers and Influent Pumps at the WWTP with funds approved as 
part of the 2020 CIP Budget item #WWD168 and #WWD 169. 

Background: As part of our ongoing efforts to maintain the WWTP, we have 
scheduled this year to upgrade the Blower System and the Influent Pumps. These 
two areas were identified by our consulting engineers as items with the greatest 
need of repair and upgrade. Hussey, Gay, Bell Engineering has a long history 
with the City's Waste Water Treatment Plant and has been the Engineer of Record 
for many years. They designed the original plant and the many upgrades, 
expansions and Discharge Permit renewals throughout the years. Their many 
years of experience make HGB uniquely qualified to provide the engineering 
services needed for this project. 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 



COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

CITY OF :::;TATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P. 0. Box 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

. Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Budget Impact: This project was approved as part of the City's Capital 

Improvement Program with funds from Operating Revenues. 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: HGB Contract 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone: (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 


























	01-21-2020 Council Agenda
	01-21 Memo Audit Presentation
	01-07-2020 Council Minuets
	Council Memo & Packet_CC JAN 2020
	01-21 Alcohol application
	01-21 Memo Resolution 2020-02
	01-21 RESOLUTION 2020-02 CDGB Bank acct
	01-21 Memo AT&T Lease amendment
	01-21 410-285 Draft 6th Amend SS (Clean) 1.10.2020
	01-21 Emergency Pump Replacement Well #10
	01-21 Reimbursement for Water Main Extension
	01-21 Professional Services Contract Hussey, Gay, Bell



